#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAURICE L. FLOYD,	)	
Appellant,		
		0005 004
VS.	) CASE NUMBER	SC95-824
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Appellee.	)	
	)	

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## **

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The record consists of twelve consecutively numbered volumes of pleadings and transcripts. The pages therein are numbered consecutively 1 through 2262.

Counsel will refer to the record using roman numerals to designate the volume along with the corresponding page numbers.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 5, 1998, the spring term grand jury in and for Putnam County, Florida, returned an indictment charging Maurice Lamar Floyd, the appellant, with one count of first-degree murder, one count of armed burglary of dwelling, and one count of aggravated assault. (I 11-12)

Prior to trial, the court denied appellant's motion in limine to strike portions of the Florida Standard Jury Instructions on the authority of <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995) (I 62-64, 117, VII 1449-55) The trial court also denied appellant's motion for statement of particulars regarding the aggravating circumstances. (I 109-10, 117, VII 1457-58) The court also denied appellant's motion to allow victim impact evidence before the judge alone. (I 78-84, 118, VII 1450, 1458-60)

This case was tried before a jury beginning on April 5, 1999. (VI 1016)

During jury selection, the trial judge overruled appellant's objections and allowed the state to peremptorily excuse perspective juror Rios, a Hispanic. (VI 1102-9)

At trial, the trial court overruled appellant's objections which were based on chain of custody and allowed the state to introduce two projectiles removed from the victim's body. (IX 1742-61)

Prior to trial, appellant asked the trial judge for an instruction on

circumstantial evidence. (VII 1367-68) Appellant renewed his request at the charge conference, but the trial court subsequently denied it. (X 1895-98) The trial court denied appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal made at the conclusion of the evidence and testimony. (X 1862-63)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on all three counts. (III 497-98)

The case proceeded to a penalty phase on April 8, 1999. (XI 2009) At the penalty phase, the state presented four victim-impact witnesses over appellant's renewed objections. (XI 2022-24, 2102-3) The state rested and appellant called no witnesses and presented no evidence. (XI 2102-6)

The trial court denied appellant's request to read his proposed instruction on nonstatutory mitigators that were supported by the evidence. (IV 785, XI 2018-21, 2130-34) The trial court also refused to grant appellant's special jury instruction regarding the rare circumstances that the trial court could impose a sentence other than the one the jury recommended. (IV 760-61, XI 2134-37) Appellant also objected to the language in the standard jury instructions that tended to diminish the jury's responsibility. (XI 2137-38) Appellant also strongly objected to the trial court instructing the jury on the heinousness aggravating factor, where the evidence did not support it. The trial court overruled the objection and so

instructed the jury. (XI 2107-21, 2138-46, 2170-71) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a recommendation (11-1) that Maurice Floyd should die. (III 504, XI 2179)

The trial court held a Spencer<sup>1</sup> hearing on April 16, 1999. (XII 2214-53) At the hearing, the trial court denied appellant's previously filed motion for new trial. (IV 783-84, 799, XII 2238) Appellant also renewed all prior objections. (XII 2238-47) On May 15, 1999, the trial court held a hearing on appellant's pending violation of probation. (XI 2186-2203) The trial court found appellant in violation.

The state prepared a sentencing guideline scoresheet. (V 972-74) The trial court sentenced appellant to death. The trial court rendered a written order finding four aggravating factors and four nonstatutory mitigating factors. (V 975-83) The trial court sentenced appellant to thirty years on the armed burglary and a concurrent five year term on the aggravated assault. (V 988-89) The trial court sentenced appellant to three terms of five years each on the violation of probation, all counts to run concurrent to the other sentences. (V 990-93)

Appellant filed a notice of appeal on June 4, 1999. (V 1002) This brief follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

At the time of Mary Goss' murder, Maurice Floyd, the appellant, was married to Trelane, the victim's daughter. (VIII 1514-16) By all accounts, appellant's relationship with Trelane was a tumultuous one. Trelane first met Maurice in the spring of 1997. Their relationship became serious during the late summer months of that same year. Trelane and Maurice married on March 23, 1998.

In the beginning, the relationship was a happy one. Trelane maintained that Maurice eventually became overly possessive. Maurice resented the fact that Trelane drank and socialized with others who drank and smoked. (VIII 1518-19) The appellant kept close tabs on Trelane. Shortly after they married, he bought her a pager. When this proved less than satisfactory, he provided her with a cell phone so that she had "no excuse" for not calling him. (VIII 1519-21) He tried to keep her close to home and occasionally disabled her car so that she could not drive it. (VIII 1522) When she disappeared from the house, Appellant would search for her at friends' homes until he found her. (VIII 1522)

On July 11, 1998, Trelane's birthday, she wanted to do something special.

Trelane went with some friends to a party where she drank and danced. She then went to a local Palatka night spot, Vic's Supper Club, where the party continued.

At Vic's, Trelane encountered the appellant who informed her that he was taking her car home. Much later (about 4:00 a.m.), Trelane had some friends drive her home where she found her disabled car. She then returned to Vic's with her friends before finally coming home at approximately 5:00 a.m. (VIII 1526-28) When Trelane returned home, she and Maurice argued. Appellant warned Trelane that if she went out drinking again, he would kill her. He also warned Trelane that if she ever tried to get away from him, he would kill her. He warned her that if he was not able to get to her he would kill someone she loved like her mother, father, or children.<sup>2</sup> (VIII 1529)

When Trelane woke up the next morning, the appellant had a gun pointed at her head. Trelane told him to go ahead, pull the trigger, kill her. Maurice pulled the trigger three times, but the gun was empty. (VIII 1529) Trelane announced that the marriage was over and that she would divorce him. The appellant repeated his prior threats. While he was taking a shower, Trelane hid the gun. (VIII 1530)

The next morning, Monday, Trelane left the house to pick up her three-yearold goddaughter for a shopping trip. She left her three small children with the appellant. Later that day, Trelane returned to her apartment with her goddaughter to see if appellant was still there. As she drove up to her house, Appellant drove

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Trelane had three young children from prior relationships. (VIII 1515-16)

up to her car and asked why she had not taken the goddaughter home yet. (VIII 1531-32) Trelane ignored him and drove away, but stopped to talk to a friend. The appellant drove up next to her and called her a whore. Trelane drove away and headed for the sheriff's office. Along the way, the appellant rammed the back of her car and a wild chase ensued. (VIII 1533-35)

Deputy Sheriff Dean Kelly was working the complaint desk in Palatka that evening. Shortly after 7:30 Trelane Floyd drove her car up to the front door with the appellant in hot pursuit. (VIII 1536, 1553-54) Both jumped out of their respective cars and the appellant chased his wife as she ran up to the front door of the sheriff's office. Trelane was crying, screaming, and was visibly upset. (VIII 1555) She claimed that the appellant had rammed her car and was trying to hurt her. (VIII 1553-54) Deputy Kelly then spied the appellant walking quickly up the sidewalk towards them. Appellant attempted to walk by Deputy Kelly towards his wife, but Kelly stopped him. (VIII 1553-54)

Deputy Kelly concluded that he was witnessing a domestic violence incident and called for backup. (VIII 1555) Kelly attempted to take the appellant into custody. He ordered appellant to turn around and put his hands behind his back.

The appellant thrust his hands into the air and began backing away. He said he had done nothing wrong and ignored Deputy Kelly's orders. (VIII 1555) The

appellant then turned, jumped a ditch, and ran through a field leaving his car behind. (VIII 1555-58) Unable to locate the appellant that night, Deputy Kelly made plans to arrest him the next morning at his place of employment. (VIII 1558)

Trelane called her mother, Mary Goss, from the sheriff's office. She learned that earlier that day appellant had dropped her children off at her mother's house where they remained with her. (VIII 1538-39) Goss thanked her daughter for calling and promised that she would protect the children. (VIII 1539) That was the last time that Trelane spoke to her mother. (VIII 1540-41)

That night was a very hot one in Palatka. John Brown, Mary Goss' neighbor directly across the street, was sitting on his porch that evening. His next-door neighbor, Jeanette Figuero, was also trying to escape the heat by sitting outside on her front porch. (IX 1652-53, 1670-71) Brown noticed two young men, one tall and one short, walk by his house. From the snippet of conversation that Brown heard, he concluded that the two men had been involved in an altercation down the street. (IX 1653) The pair walked down to the next street, where the short one disappeared. The taller man, dressed in black, came back up the sidewalk and walked back and forth in front of Brown's house eight or nine times. (IX 1654-55) Brown commented to Figuero about the man, but she noticed nothing out of

the ordinary. (IX 1654-55, 1671) Ultimately the tall young black male walked up the front porch steps of Mrs. Goss' house across the street. Both Brown and Figuero saw him standing on the porch talking to someone inside. The screen door was open. (IX 1654, 1671-72) The man ultimately entered the Goss home and a significant period of time passed. Brown estimated an hour passed before shooting erupted, while Figuero's testimony was somewhere in the same vicinity. (IX 1654-55, 1671-75)

In the interim, both neighbors heard loud voices coming from the Goss home. (IX 1657, 1672-74) Figuero watched part of the argument from her window. She heard a loud angry male voice using profanity. The man was apparently asking Goss why she (Trelane) had to "involve the goddamned crackers." (IX 1672-74)³ Figuero watched as the man in the Goss home walked towards someone seated on the couch. The man walked forward but not in a physically threatening manner. However, he seemed insistent on obtaining answers to his questions. (IX 1674) The man looked out the window and saw Figuero watching. The man then stepped back away from the couch.

Figuero then went into her house. She had a glass of water in her kitchen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Figuero explained that the term "cracker" was slang referring to white people. (IX 1674)

before trying to fall asleep in the stifling heat on her sofa in the living room. (IX 1674-75) Approximately thirty minutes later she heard a shot. She opened her eyes and, a moment or two later, she heard a second, louder shot. The sound seemed to come from between her house and her neighbor's home. (IX 1675) Brown also heard the shots which he also estimated came approximately one hour after the man first entered the Goss house. (IX 1654-55)

Trelane's children were in the house when the trouble first began. Appellant had dropped off his stepchildren at Mary Goss' house earlier that day. (VIII 1538, IX 1655-56, 1706, 1726-28) After they were put to bed that fateful night, Goss, their grandmother, woke them up. (IX 1707-8, 1726-28) When the children woke up, the appellant was already in the house arguing with Goss. (IX 1707) Goss told her grandchildren to run across the street to Jeanette Figuero's house. She told J.J. Jones, the oldest child, to call the police once he got there. (IX 1708, 1732-33) J.J. saw Maurice standing in the dining room of the home. Maurice appeared to be angry. J.J. approached his stepfather, but Maurice told him that he did not want to talk. (IX 1728-32)

The children did as they were told and headed across the street to the neighbor's home. Once they were outside, J.J., the oldest child saw his grandmother trying to exit through the front door of the house. However, appellant

was still inside the house using the door to squeeze Mary Goss who was half in and half out. (IX 1733-35) Goss eventually got out of the house using the back door. (IX 1709-11)

LaJade Evans, the middle child who was approximately five years old at the time of the murder, saw the appellant standing on the front porch shooting at her grandmother as she ran from the house. (IX 1709-11) J.J. also saw appellant on the front porch shooting in the direction of Mrs. Goss. (IX 1709-11, 1735-37) Although J.J. never saw appellant leave the porch, LaJade saw the appellant follow her grandmother around the side of Jeanette Figuero's house. (IX 1709-12, 1715, 1737) The children found refuge in Figuero's house. They heard one final shot that seemed to come from the side of the house. (IX 171-12, 1739-40) With Figuero's help, the children reported what they saw to the 911 operator. (IX 1676-78, 1713-15, 1739-40)

Corporal Scott Stokes of the Palatka Police Department received the call at 11:35 that evening. He arrived at the scene three minutes later with Officer Zike. The front door was damaged. (VIII 1602) They found the front door to the Goss residence wide open but no one inside. (VIII 1605-6) They found Mary Goss in Figuero's side yard lying on her back. (VIII 1608) Goss was wearing a night gown with no underwear. (VIII 1613)

A subsequent autopsy indicated that Goss died from a gunshot wound that began on her left cheek and went through her facial bones and into her brain. (X 1851-54) This single gunshot wound caused such trauma to the brain that Goss died instantaneously. (X 1858-59) The path of the bullet went from left to right at about a forty-five degree angle and also from down to up at approximately the same angle. (X 1854) Dr. Steiner opined within a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Mrs. Goss was standing up when she was shot. (X 1858)

After the shooting, appellant went to Tashoni Lamb's home. He arrived around midnight. He pulled his gun out of his pants and put it on the bedroom dresser. He told Lamb that he had "just shot Miss Mary, the grandmother." (IX 1783-86) When Lamb asked why, appellant said that she had threatened to call the police on him. (IX 1787) Appellant left Lamb's apartment sometime after 6:00 the next morning. (IX 1788-89) He called her a day later prior to his apprehension. (IX 1789-90) Lamb claimed that appellant asked her to lie for him. When she refused, appellant asked if she wanted to see him die. (IX 1793-95)

### **Aggravating and Mitigating Evidence**

At the penalty phase, the state presented evidence that in March of 1992, when Maurice Floyd was only fifteen, he shot his brother once with a .22 rifle. The pair had been arguing when Phillip, Appellant's brother, struck him.

Appellant's brother died as a result of the single gunshot wound. (XI 2048-53)

Appellant was convicted of manslaughter and sentenced to a four year prison term.

(XI 2054; State's penalty phase exhibits # 1 & 2)

Floyd had been placed on probation on September 17, 1996, for two counts of accessory after the fact and one count of burglary of a structure. On the date of the murder, appellant was still on probation. (XI 2060-61, 2096-97) Prior to the shooting of Mary Goss, appellant had abided by the probationary rules and appeared to be successfully completing his term of probation. (XI 2063)

Although Appellant did not put on any testimony or evidence at the penalty phase, defense counsel did propose at least two nonstatutory mitigating circumstances and unsuccessfully urged the trial judge to instruct the jury on them. Defense counsel contended that appellant displayed exemplary courtroom demeanor in the face of much adversity. Appellant also assisted counsel throughout the proceedings by taking notes and communicating with his lawyer. (IV 785, III 495-96, XI 2018-21, 2130-34)

At the subsequent <u>Spencer</u><sup>4</sup> hearing, appellant reiterated his two proposed nonstatutory mitigating factors. Additionally, appellant proposed more mitigating circumstances pointing out that Floyd had successfully completed his probation for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

his 1995 cases until that fateful night. Additionally, defense counsel pointed out the mitigating factor that Floyd was clearly and justifiably concerned about Trelane's drinking and its effects on the family situation. (XII 2224-27)

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

Based on this Court's recent decision in <u>Delgado v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S631 (Fla. August 24, 2000), appellant contends that the evidence is insufficient to prove the armed burglary. The evidence of the burglary is completely circumstantial. The circumstances are more consistent with the conclusion that appellant was invited into the house where a heated argument ensued. Where the state failed to prove the burglary, appellant cannot be convicted under the felony murder theory. Since there were no eyewitnesses to the actual killing, the evidence is also insufficient to prove premeditated murder. The shooting was the result of a heated domestic dispute. The evidence proves, at most, second-degree murder.

Appellant contends that reversible error occurred during jury selection when the state exercised a peremptory challenge against juror Noel Rios, a Hispanic. The state's purported race-neutral reason was that, in response to defense counsel's question about the death penalty Rios' exhibited "body language" that the prosecutor perceived as negative about the death penalty in general. There was not substantial, competent evidence to support the trial court's finding that the reason was genuine. Additionally, the trial court based his ruling, at least in part, on the mistaken impression that the presence of African-Americans on the seated jury was evidence that the reason was race-neutral.

Appellant contends that fundamental error occurred when the jury was never instructed that they could consider in mitigation aspects of the defendant's character, record, or background. Instead they were mistakenly told that they could only consider in mitigation any other circumstances of the offense. The trial court compounded the error by refusing to specifically instruct the jury on appellant's proposed nonstatutory mitigating factors. Additionally, the trial court should have instructed the jury that they could consider appellant's young age in mitigation.

Mary Goss died almost instantaneously from a single gunshot wound to the head. She did not suffer nor did her assailant intend to torture her. The caselaw from this Court clearly indicated that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor does not apply to murders like this. Over strenuous defense objection, the trial court instructed the jury that they could consider this aggravating factor. The trial court subsequently agreed with defense counsel that the factor did not apply. However, the damage was already done. The jury, a group of laymen, undoubtedly believed that all first-degree murders are extremely heinous. The prosecutor emphasized this factor in his closing argument at the penalty phase by speculating that the victim "begged for her life" with her eyes. Under the circumstances, the jury used an impermissible consideration in deciding that death was the appropriate

penalty. A new penalty phase is required.

Additionally, the trial court erroneously concluded that the evidence supported the finding that the murder was committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest. Nothing could be further from the truth. Appellant killed Mary Goss because he was angry and jealous of his wife. Even under the state's theory, appellant killed his mother-in-law because he could not "get at" his wife, the true object of his ire.

For the reasons set forth in the first point on appeal, appellant contends that the trial court erred in concluding that the murder was committed during the commission of a burglary. The circumstantial evidence indicated otherwise. The neighbors across the street were watching much of the confrontation between appellant and his mother-in-law. Neither one saw or heard a forced entry. Appellant remained in the Goss household arguing with his mother-in-law for approximately one hour before the shooting occurred. It is clear from the evidence was invited into the home by Goss. Therefore, no burglary occurred and this aggravator cannot stand.

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