IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAURICE LAMAR FLOYD, Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC95824

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #438847
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990
Fax # (904) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

circumstantial evidence through inference from the facts shown to support this aggravator. However, were this not the case, Floyd would still be entitled to no relief because any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 20 (Fla. 2000), cert. denied, 148 L.Ed.2d 94 (2000) [several remaining aggravators supported death penalty after avoid arrest stricken and rendered error harmless]; Jones v. State, 748 So. 2d at 1027[three remaining aggravators, including a prior murder, rendered error in finding avoid arrest aggravator harmless].

Assuming arguendo that the finding of the avoid arrest aggravator in Floyd's case was error, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Without the avoid arrest aggravator, there remains three strong aggravators to be weighed against scant mitigation. Moreover, this is the second time in a few short years in which Floyd has voluntarily killed a family member. Indeed, the trial judge said that had there been only one valid aggravator any one of those found - he would still have found the aggravator outweighed all of the mitigation and would have imposed the death sentence. (R 982). Thus, any error in finding the avoid arrest aggravator was clearly harmless, and Floyd is entitled to no relief.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON AND FINDING THE COMMITTED DURING A BURGLARY AGGRAVATOR.

Floyd complains that the evidence of a burglary was insufficient, and therefore, the aggravating factor based thereon should not have been found. (IB 58). As set out hereinabove at Point I, the evidence that Floyd burglarized Mary Goss's home before, and in connection with, murdering her is overwhelming. See Point I, at 43-46, supra. Moreover, that the jury convicted Floyd of the underlying felony of burglary compelled the finding of this factor in aggravation. There was no error in instructing, or finding, the committed during a burglary aggravator. Floyd is entitled to no relief.

POINT VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT FUNDAMENTALLY ERR IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROSECUTOR'S PENALTY PHASE SUMMATION DURING WHICH HE STATED "THE LAW REQUIRES THAT HE RECEIVE THE DEATH PENALTY."

On appeal, Floyd complains that the prosecutor ended his penalty phase argument with the following: "Let the final chapter be justice was done. This man not only deserves but the law requires that he receive the death penalty." (emphasis in original) (IB 59). Floyd "concedes that the argument was made without objection." (IB 60). However, he claims that it constituted "fundamental error." (IB 60).

It has long been the law that the failure to make a contemporaneous objection and request a mistrial procedurally bars an appellate claim based on prosecutorial comment or argument. Lukehart v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S735a (Fla. Sept. 28, 2000); McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999). "The only exception . . . is where the prosecutor's comments constitute fundamental error." 743 So. 2d at 505. Prosecutorial comments made during argument are fundamental only where it "'reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" Id. (citations to cases quoted omitted). The comment at issue in Floyd's case does not reach down into the validity of the death recommendation, and therefore, does not

constitute fundamental error.

The standard of review is abuse of the trial court's discretion. Esty v. State, 624 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 1994); Durocher v. State, 596 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1992); Robinson v. State, 520 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1988). The presiding judge has broad discretion regarding the propriety of comments made by the attorneys during closing argument. Id. Floyd has utterly failed to carry his burden to establish an abuse of discretion in regard to the complained-of comment.

In Kearse v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S507, S510 (Fla. June 29, 2000), this Court held that a "single erroneous comment," made by the prosecutor during opening argument, though properly preserved for appellate review, "was not so egregious as to require reversal" of the death sentence. There the prosecutor had urged the jury to "show this Defendant the same mercy he showed Officer Parrish.'" 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S515. In Floyd's case, there is also a single comment at issue (although it is one which is not preserved for review), and like that in Kearse, it is not so egregious as to merit relief.

In Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d 837, 842 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1084 (1998), during penalty phase closing argument, the prosecutor "improperly made a lack-of-remorse argument, undermined the jury's discretion by implying that he had already made the decision required," argued one aggravator should

have been considered as two, "denigrated the evidence in mitigation, and asked the jury to show Shellito no mercy." Only the lack-of-remorse comment was objected to, and it was clearly error. Id. This Court held that even though one of the complained-of comments was error, when considered in light of the entire record, "the brief reference to lack of remorse was of minor consequence and constituted harmless error." Id.

In the instant case, the prosecutor's comment at worst might be deemed one undermining the jury's discretion by implying that the prosecutor had already reached a conclusion on the matter on which a decision was required of the jury at penalty phase. If so deemed, such was not fundamental error by itself or considered with any other improper comment(s). See id.

Moreover, if the comment is "a misstatement of Florida law" as Floyd contends, (IB 59), it was cured by the trial court's instruction to the jury. (R 2169). Defense Counsel's closing argument, which followed the prosecutor's, also reminded the jury that its "advisory recommendation . . . must be given great weight by the Judge" and "what you're doing here is very, very serious." (R 2163, 2164). Thus, the jury was well aware that its recommendation was a very serious matter which would likely be followed by the trial judge and that the appropriate sentence was not a foregone conclusion. On this record, the prosecutor's statement, if error, certainly was not harmful. There is no

reasonable possibility, much less probability, that the eleven to one recommendation for a death sentence (R 2179) would have been a recommendation for a life sentence absent the prosecutor's comment. Having utterly failed to establish fundamental error, Floyd is entitled to no relief.

POINT VIII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING THE PENALTY PHASE JURY TO HEAR THE VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE PRESENTED.

In the trial court, Floyd asked the judge to require the State to first proffer the intended victim impact evidence before it was placed before the jury. (R 2024). The court agreed and held the State to that ruling even though the judge felt that the proffer was not necessary after all since the State was presenting that evidence through persons not related to the victim and who were professionals and familiar with court room proceedings. (R 2024-29). Wade Preister was the first witness, and upon completion of his proffer, Floyd announced that he was "satisfied" that the testimony could proceed before the jury. (R 2034). The State proceeded to present his testimony without objection. (R 2037-47).

When the second victim impact witness, Bill Dollar, was called, the jury was removed and a proffer was made. (R 2064, 2066). After the summary proffer which was stipulated to by Floyd, (R 2067, 2069), Defense Counsel announced "[n]o objection" to Mr. Dollar's testimony. (R 2070). Neither was an objection made to the testimony of Mr. Witherspoon after proffer or before the jury testimony. (R 2079-2080, 2086-92). After proffer of Mr. Walker's testimony, Defense Counsel announced "[n]o objection," and he made no objection during, or upon conclusion of, Mr. Walker's testimony before the jury. (R 2082, 2093-96). Counsel did not object to the

testimony of Rev. Flagg after proffer of his testimony was made. (R 2083-84, 2098-2101).

Having failed to make a proper objection to the subject victim impact evidence, Floyd's instant complaint is procedurally barred. See Sexton v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly, S818, S821 (Fla. Oct. 12, 2000). See Lawrence v. State, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1072 n.6 (Fla. 1997). Moreover, any victim impact issue considered on appeal must have been raised in the trial court on the specific basis asserted on appeal. Sexton, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S821.

Appellate Counsel's claim that the jury heard "emotional detail" about Mrs. Goss should not be considered as it was not made below. Id. See Lawrence, 691 So 2d at 1072. Moreover, Floyd cites to nothing on the cold record which demonstrates that the testimony was emotional. Indeed, it indicates to the contrary. Prosecutor Tanner announced that the family members were not going to be called and that those who would testify had shown no inappropriate emotion in the pre-testimony interviews with them. (R 2024). Neither did trial counsel make any objection to any emotional detail of the testimony. Thus, the State submits that the claim that the victim impact evidence should have been precluded because it was related in emotional detail is wholly unsupported and frivolous.

However, assuming arguendo that the issue was properly preserved and contained some emotional detail on the subject of

"what a wonderful human being that Mary Goss obviously was," (IB 61), the instant claim for relief is without merit. The standard for review of a trial judge's decision to admit victim impact evidence is abuse of discretion. See Sexton, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S821; Holland v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S796, S801 (Fla. Oct. 5, 2000).

In Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 825 (1991), the Court held that evidence and argument pertaining to the personal characteristics of the murder victim and the impact of the victim's death on his family members are valid means of advising the sentence of the specific harm caused by the defendant's unlawful conduct. Florida's constitutional provisions and legislative enactments make it clear that "victim impact evidence is to be heard in considering capital felony sentences." Windom v. State, 656 So. 2d 432, 438 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 571 (1995). Victim impact evidence "should be limited to that which is relevant" Bonifay v. State, 680 So. 2d 413, 419 (Fla. 1996).

There is no exception to the Windom rule that such evidence is permitted where the witnesses present their testimony in a "very articulate" (IB 63) manner which expresses the loss to the community. Certainly, none should be created. Neither is Floyd's appellate complaint about the professional character of the witnesses and that they were allegedly "not intimidated nor

uncomfortable" when testifying one which is appropriately before this Court since that claim was not made below. *Sexton*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S821. Moreover, had it been preserved, it is without merit.²⁸

In Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845, 851 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1051 (1998), this Court rejected the defense request to recede from the Windom holding. As in the instant case, the victim impact evidence in Cole was presented through a professional (high school school teacher) who was not related to the victim and who related his testimony in an articulate and unintimidated manner. 701 So. 2d at 851. There was no error in presenting the subject testimony through the HRS employees and the minister.

Neither is there merit in Floyd's appellate complaint that the evidence should not have been presented until the *Spencer* hearing. In *State v. Johnston*, 743 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), the court specifically held that "appropriate victim impact evidence is to be presented to the jury during the penalty phase of a capital prosecution." In reaching that conclusion, the District Court of Appeal relied on this Court's *Windom* decision, as well as the

The claim that had Floyd "killed a 'cabbage slinger', he would not have been sentenced to death" (IB 63) is wholly unsupported by the record and inappropriately argued to this Honorable Court.

Florida Constitution and Florida Statute §921.141(7). *Id.* Thus, the court entered a writ of certiorari quashing the circuit court's order granting the defense motion to preclude the presentation of victim impact evidence during the penalty phase of the capital prosecution. *Id.* Floyd has not established, and can not establish, an abuse of discretion in the trial court's admission of the victim impact evidence.

Finally, assuming arguendo that the testimony was improper victim impact evidence, or that it should have been reserved until the Spencer hearing, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Windom, 656 So. 2d at 438-39. Given the strong case in aggravation and the relatively weak case for mitigation, there is no reasonable possibility that the jurors advised imposition of the death penalty based on the complained-of comments. See Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998). Neither did the judge impose the death penalty because of the complained-of victim impact testimony. Rather, he imposed it because Floyd met the statutory criteria. Floyd is entitled to no relief.

²⁹

There were four strong aggravators, including a prior voluntary manslaughter, and miniscule nonstatutory mitigation. (See R 977-82). The aggravators "far outweigh the paucity of mitigation," and "[i]t is completely understandable that the jury, by a vote of 11 to 1, decided that . . . Floyd should die for his crime." (R 982). The court agreed and added that "any one of the aggravating factors outweighs the mitigating factors" (R 982).

POINT IX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING THE DEFENSE OBJECTION TO A WITNESS'S REPORT OF THE EXCITED UTTERANCES OF THE VICTIM'S GRANDCHILDREN; NEITHER DID IT FUNDAMENTALLY ERR IN CONNECTION WITH TESTIMONY INDICATING THAT THE WITNESS BELIEVED THE CHILD[REN]'S REPORT[S].

Appellate Counsel claims that Defense Counsel made a timely objection in the trial court to testimony of a state witness which would "improperly bolster the testimony of a subsequent child witness." (IB 66). The record reveals that this is not true. No objection was made to the testimony of Mrs. Figeroa until after she stated "the children just told me what happened, said their grandmother was shot, when I asked them what was the matter." (R 1676). The tardy objection was "hearsay . . . foundation is necessary." (R 1676). That objection was overruled, and no other objection was ever made throughout Mrs. Figeroa's testimony. (R 1670-1682). Thus, this issue is not preserved for appellate review and is procedurally barred. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

In any event, it is without merit. Both LaJade and J.J. testified that J.J. told Mrs. Figeroa and the police dispatcher what had happened to their grandmother. (R 1714, 1739). Moreover, the tape of J.J.'s report to the dispatcher, in which he identified Floyd as his grandmother's killer, was played for the jury. (R 1773-80). Thus, the complained-of testimony was merely cumulative

to properly admitted testimony, and any error was harmless. Torres-Arboledo v. State, 524 So. 2d 403, 408 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 901 (1988) [the admission of hearsay is cumulative and harmless error where a witness later testifies to the same matter].

Finally, Floyd complains that Mrs. Figuero testified that J.J. was "a smart child who understood the situation" and she "did believe the child." (IB 66). This testimony was not objected to in any fashion, and therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Moreover, Floyd's claim that such testimony was "[f]undamental error" is conclusory and not supported by citation to statutes, rules, or precedent of this Honorable Court. Such a barebones, conclusory claim is improperly presented and provides no basis on which relief can be granted on appeal. See Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000)[conclusory claim in 3.850 insufficient].

Whether evidence should be admitted at trial is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981). A ruling on the admission of evidence will not be disturbed unless the appellant demonstrates a clear abuse of judicial discretion. Id. Floyd has not met that standard.

Moreover, any error in admission of the subject testimony is

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